Evaluating the Superintendent

A white paper from the American Association of School Administrators

By Michael F. DiPaola, Ed.D. Chancellor Professor of Education Educational Policy, Planning, & Leadership School of Education The College of William & Mary



AMERICAN ASSOCIATION OF SCHOOL ADMINISTRATORS

2 AASA Whitepaper: Evaluating the Superintendent

© American Association of School Administrators, 2010

About AASA

The American Association of School Administrators, founded in 1865, is the professional organization for more than 13,000 educational leaders in the United States and throughout the world. AASA's mission is to support and develop effective school system leaders who are dedicated to the highest quality public education for all children. For more information, visit *www.aasa.org*.

Table of Contents

Introduction	5
Chapter 1 – Unique Challenges of Evaluating Superintendents	7
Chapter 2 – Criteria for Professional Personnel Evaluations	9
Chapter 3 – Building an Evaluation System	
Chapter 4 – A Quality Evaluation Process	15
Chapter 5 – Implementing the Process	17
Chapter 6 – Other Considerations	
Chapter 7 – Superintendents' Needs	21
References & Resources	23
Appendix – Sample Domains, Performance Standards and Performance Indicators Domain G: Policy and Governance Domain A: Planning and Assessment Domain L: Instructional Leadership Domain M: Organizational Management Domain C: Communications and Community Relations Domain P: Professionalism	
AASA Membership Form	
AASA Books	

4 AASA Whitepaper: Evaluating the Superintendent

Introduction

This AASA Whitepaper on Superintendent Evaluation is designed to provide a practical reference for both novice and veteran superintendents, as well as the boards that employ them. It examines this critical responsibility, addressing aspects of the evaluation process that make superintendent evaluation unique and challenging. This Whitepaper provides an up-to-date overview of this critical issue; for a step-by-step guide to developing a comprehensive evaluation process, please refer to the *Superintendent Evaluation Handbook* (DiPaola & Stronge, 2003) published by Rowman & Littlefield Education in partnership with AASA (see p. 41).

The onset of the "standards and accountability movement" that began prior to the turn of this new century created a heightened focus on assessing the performance of all educational professionals, including superintendents. Certainly the enactment of the No Child Left Behind Act (NCLB) of 2002 made student achievement a public issue in every community across the nation. It also placed the performance of superintendents and other school personnel in a fishbowl of public scrutiny.

The "standards and accountability" era initiated a trend to link superintendent performance to student achievement and other measurable student performance standards. This shift created a great emphasis on the instructional leadership skills of superintendents, heretofore generally the responsibility of other specialists in school districts. In essence, the performance expectations for most superintendents changed quickly, without a corresponding change in their official job descriptions or in the processes used to evaluate their performance. This shift to the focus on the quality of superintendents' instructional leadership created a set of unique challenges, not only for superintendents, but also for the boards that evaluate their performance.

6 AASA Whitepaper: Evaluating the Superintendent

Chapter 1: Unique Challenges of Evaluating Superintendents

The need to effectively evaluate the superintendents of schools annually is not only a fundamental responsibility of the boards that employ them, but it is also legally required in most states. Yet, until recently, superintendent performance evaluation has too frequently been neglected. In 1980, the American Association of School Administrators (AASA) and the National School Board Association (NSBA) issued a joint statement calling for formal evaluations of superintendents (AASA, 1980), yet in the intervening years, little systemic progress was made.

A well-conceived, comprehensive and fair evaluation process based on performance must be grounded in the specific job responsibilities of the superintendent. It should be designed to encourage improvement in the superintendent's performance and, consequently, the school district's performance. Because superintendents encompass a variety of roles that vary from district to district, it is critical that the evaluation process used be developed locally, based on specific job responsibilities and expectations. That's not to say there are not some generic responsibilities that virtually all superintendents will be expected to meet. In fact, those generic areas of responsibilities can form the basic core of a sound performance evaluation system.

Designing and implementing an effective performance evaluation system for the superintendent is a comprehensive and complex undertaking. Three obvious practical issues that must be addressed in the design and implementation are:

- · the reality of having multiple evaluators,
- providing clear, specific performance expectations and
- documenting performance using multiple sources of data.

The superintendent is the only employee in the entire organization who is supervised by multiple evaluators, all of whom typically are community members untrained in the evaluation of professional educators (MacPhail-Wilcox & Forbes, 1990). This often results in differing performance expectations and conflicting perspectives on the superintendent's performance that get resolved either by "averaging" the varying opinions or presenting the superintendent with all the individual board members' opinions and ratings. In the first case, "averaging" provides the superintendent feedback that is very general and not useful to target improvement. In the other extreme, providing all the opinions and ratings generally offers conflicting advice and ratings. If the superintendent of schools is to receive a fair evaluation, and if the evaluation is to contribute to her or his success and to the overall effectiveness of the school system, then special consideration must be given to designing, developing and implementing a relevant, comprehensive and high-guality performance evaluation system that provides accurate, specific feedback.

The Design Process

The absence of clearly defined job expectations and performance goals is a common problem in the process of personnel evaluation. It can be overcome when superintendent and board jointly establish clear and specific goals for the district and the expectations of the superintendent in fulfilling those goals (Schaffer, 1999). Discussing and collaboratively establishing mutually agreeable organizational goals and performance targets can facilitate the translation of performance expectations into job responsibilities with appropriate performance indicators and standards for job performance. This collaborative process clearly requires input from both the school board and the superintendent, who ultimately is responsible for carrying out the daily performance of job expectations. This joint process of defining responsibilities and standards of performance provides clear direction for the school system, the evaluation process and the superintendent being evaluated.

Once responsibilities and performance standards are clearly defined, the next step is determining how the superintendent's job performance will be documented. This should also be a collaborative process, with both the board and the superintendent gathering data and assessing performance. In this phase, the critical issue is to determine tangible, objective ways of knowing how well the superintendent performs. When the superintendent's evaluation is based merely on supposition drawn from informal sources, the evidence upon which decisions are made is superficial. In the absence of clearly defined sources of data, board members can substitute opinion based on anecdotal evidence, be overly influenced by a few vocal chronic complainants and/or make judgments unrelated to measures of success or achievement of organizational goals.

Chapter 2: Criteria for Professional Personnel Evaluations

A conceptually sound and properly implemented evaluation system for all personnel, including superintendents, is a vital component of an effective school system. Regardless of how well educational programs may be designed, the programs are only as effective as the people who implement and support them. No matter the specific position, evaluation needs are basic: the need for a thoughtful, thorough and fair evaluation based on performance and designed to encourage improvement in both the person being evaluated and the school district.

Evaluations should be based in the generic duties of a particular position. Certainly the context in which superintendents are employed impacts how they perform their daily responsibilities. Contextual variations such as district size, district culture, board member expectations, governance style and local political factors all influence the job of a superintendent. However, there are generic duties of the superintendency that should form the basis of an evaluation process. Therefore, having clearly defined job expectations is a prime prerequisite to any evaluation system. Clear, locally defined job expectations for the superintendent ground performance assessment in the professional competencies and duties of that position (Candoli, Cullen, & Stufflebeam, 1997).

The Joint Committee on Standards for Educational Evaluation (JCSEE) was founded in 1975 to develop standards for educational evaluation. Originally initiated by the American Educational Research Association, the American Psychological Association and the National Council on Measurement in Education, the Joint Committee now includes many other organizations in its membership. This coalition of major professional associations was formed to improve the quality of evaluation. The JCSEE issued the first edition of The Personnel Evaluation Standards (PES) in 1988. which constitute the American National Standard for Personnel Evaluation in Education. The second edition of The Personnel Evaluation Standards (2009) is based on knowledge about personnel evaluation gained from the professional literature and research/ development since 1988. The JCSEE requires that

personnel evaluations be *ethical*, *fair*, *useful*, *feasible* and accurate. It is not the intent of these standards to design or promote specific systems of evaluation, but rather to ensure that whatever system is in place provides a sound process most likely to produce the desired results: growth and development of the professional being evaluated and improvement of services to students.

Evaluation Standards

The sound educational evaluation practices established by the JCSEE applied to the superintendency include:

- **Propriety standards** that require evaluations be conducted legally, ethically and with due regard for the welfare of the superintendent and the students of the district served by the process. There are seven specific standards under this category, which include *service orientation, appropriate policies and procedures, access to evaluation information, interactions with superintendents, comprehensive evaluation, conflict of interest and legal viability.*
- Utility standards that guide evaluations so that they will be informative, timely and influential. There are six standards under this category, which include constructive orientation, defined uses, evaluator qualifications, explicit criteria, functional reporting and follow-up/professional development.
- Feasibility standards that call for evaluation systems that are as easy to implement as possible, efficient in their use of time and resources, adequately funded and viable from a number of other standpoints. There are three standards under this category including *practical procedures*, *political viability and fiscal viability*.
- Accuracy standards that require that the obtained information be technically accurate and that conclusions be linked logically to the data. There are 11 standards under this category including validity orientation, defined expectations, analysis of context, documented purposes and procedures, defensible information, systemic data control, bias identification and management, analysis of information, justified conclusions and meta-evaluation.

In applying these standards, evaluation procedures must certainly:

- meet the judicial standard of "reasonableness" and "fairness" through clear explanation and uniform application;
- satisfy the general substantive, as well as procedural, aspects of the law;
- make the conditions of employment known by distributing a clear explanation of these conditions to the superintendent; and
- be executed by board members trained to evaluate the superintendent's performance using the predefined procedures.

Furthermore, one goal of the evaluation process must be focused on the professional growth of the superintendent.

In order to conform to these requirements an evaluation process should include a statement of purpose, clear performance criteria, standards of performance defined by a rating scale, specific procedures used to collect performance data and a method to summarize the data on performance, for example, an evaluation summary (Beckham, 1985; Frels & Horton, 2003; Gessford, 1997; Stronge & Tucker, 2003). Evaluation summaries should include specific examples of superintendent behaviors to illustrate and justify summative assessments, especially those that indicate exemplary or less than satisfactory performance (Frels & Horton, 2003). Unsatisfactory performance cannot be substantiated by a single event; rather a pattern of performance over time is required. Data collected over time and based on observations, performance data and other related evidence is important. Unsatisfactory performance clearly is not misconduct, which is legally defined and generally can be substantiated by a single event that is wrongful, improper, or unlawful.

In order to substantiate a judgment of unsatisfactory performance, it is critical that the board demonstrate that the superintendent has received notice of the specific performance expectation, was provided a remediation plan by the board, and was given the assistance and time needed to correct the "Inadequate performance" (McGrath, 1993).

Before taking punitive action against superintendent, the board must make a good faith effort to help remediate the deficient performance unless the deficiency is so egregious that it provides grounds for immediate dismissal (Frels, Cooper, & Reagan, 1984). Good remediation plans address the specific performance to be improved, resources needed for improvement, follow-up assessments of improvement, benchmarks of progress, consequences for not improving and criteria for satisfactory performance.

Chapter 3: Building an Evaluation System

Defining the Job

An effective performance evaluation system is built on a foundation of clearly described and welldocumented performance standards. It is impossible to conduct a fair and comprehensive evaluation without clearly describing the performance standards of superintendents so specifically and accurately so that both the superintendent and those evaluating her or him can understand the expectations of the job. Clearly defined performance standards dramatically increase the probability that the superintendent is evaluated based on what she or he was hired to do! This has been one the greatest problems in the evaluation of superintendents. *The* 2000 Study of the American Superintendency reported that only 50.2% of the responding superintendents were being evaluated according to the criteria in their job descriptions. Thus, specific and accurate job standards must serve as the solid foundation of a sound performance evaluation system.

Performance Domains

The evaluation systems that have been adopted by many states and/or AASA state affiliates are based on a tiered description of job performance. The overall broad, generic categories of responsibilities -- Performance Domains -- form the first tier. Performance domains should reflect the professional standards of the superintendency. For example, the AASA professional standards include eight categories (see Figure 1 below).

AASA Standard	Key Descriptors
Standard 1:	Vision, academic rigor, excellence, empowerment,
Leadership and District Culture	problem solving
Standard 2:	Policy formulation, democratic processes,
Policy and Governance	regulations
Standard 3:	Internal and external communications, community
Communications and Community Relations	support, consensus building
Standard 4:	Data-driven decision making, problem solving,
Organizational Management	operations management and reporting
Standard 5:	Curriculum planning, instructional design, human
Curriculum Planning and Development	growth and development
Standard 6:	Student achievement, classroom management,
Instructional Management	instructional technology
Standard 7:	Personnel induction, development, evaluation,
Human Resources Management	compensation, organizational health
Standard 8:	Multicultural and ethnic understanding, personal
Values and Ethics of Leadership	integrity and ethics

Figure 1: Superintendent Standards, American Association of School Administrators

The National School Boards Association (NSBA, 2000) identified eight "key action areas" for both the superintendent and board that include: vision, standards, assessment, accountability, alignment, climate, collaboration and continuous improvement. These and other standards (such as ISLLC) provide guidance in developing a set of domains to serve as the framework for an evaluation system. A review of evaluation systems adopted by states, school board and AASA state affiliates across the nation reveals a variation in the number of suggested domains. A sampling of suggested models of superintendent evaluation systems show a range from three domains in Texas to 13 in Alabama (see Table 1). For example, the domain

Educational Leadership - The superintendent provides leadership and direction for an educational system that is based on desired student achievement is included in the Texas Association of School Boards' sample superintendent evaluation instrument (2006). A sample evaluation system provided in the appendix of this whitepaper provides an example with six performance domains.

See Table 1, next page.

Performance Standards

Performance standards are the job responsibilities or duties performed by the superintendent. They provide greater specification of role expectations in each of the domains. Performance standards form the second tier of the job description. They are more specific than the domain but are not at the level of discrete, observable behaviors. Therefore, performance standards provide greater clarity on the precise nature of the Domain, but do not provide a specific behavior or set of behaviors that could be directly assessed. Continuing with the example of the Texas Association of School Board sample instrument, under the domain of Educational Leadership, one performance standard is: Instructional Management: The superintendent manages an assessment and improvement system for student learning in the major academic subjects that results in the ongoing improvement in student achievement.

Performance Indicators

Performance Indicators specify, in observable behaviors, the types and quality of performance associated with the major job responsibilities (performance standards) within each domain. Performance indicators constitute the most specific description of performance standards in the threetiered hierarchy, and lend themselves nicely to documentation and direct assessment. Performance indicators are typically not used as the unit of evaluation; rather, they are provided to highlight what a superintendent would do if she or he where properly fulfilling the job requirement. Sample indicators must be developed for each standard under each domain. However, they are not intended to be all-inclusive lists but rather examples of typical behaviors that indicate satisfactory performance of the applicable standard by a superintendent. Completing the example from Texas, under the domain of Educational Leadership and the performance standard Instructional Management: The superintendent manages an assessment and improvement system for student learning in the major academic subjects that results in the ongoing improvement in student achievement there are four sample performance indicators:

The board shall see:

- Information on how the district determines deficiencies or areas for improvement in instruction and curriculum.
- An annual report of instructional areas needing attention, as revealed by the system.
- Annual reports of remediation and instructional improvement efforts implemented, cost, progress and results as they become available.
- A trend of ongoing improvement as reflected in longitudinal data on student scores

Job Descriptions

It is critical for superintendents to know the performance expectations of the boards that employ them. By working with their boards, superintendents can encourage the joint development of a job description that is an accurate general description of the superintendent's role and that can serve as a basis upon which the superintendent's evaluation can be built. Such a description will be rationally connected to the specific duties and responsibilities contained within the superintendent's performance evaluation. In fact, performance standards and their corresponding performance indicators should behaviorally define the superintendent's job description.

Table 1: Sample Performance Domains

State	Components/Domains	State	Components/Domains
Alabama	Thirteen Competencies: (Self-Assessment Surveys Portfolio) (1) Communication skills (2) Collaboration process and skills (3) Assessment/Measurement/Evaluation (4) Organizing for results (5) Planning (6) Federal/State/ Local laws and policies (7) Problem solving (8) Innovation (9) Technology Management (10) School system management (11) Fiscal Leadership and management	New York N. Carolina	Eight Standards: (Includes indicators for each standards and Evaluation form) (1) Leadership and District Culture (2) Policy and Governance (3) Communications and Community Relations (4) Organizational Management (5) Curriculum Planning Development (6) Instructional Leadership (7) Human Resource Management (8) Values and Ethics of Leadership Six Components:
	(12) Management of professional responsibilities(13) Leadership of human resources	N. Carolina	 (1) Assessing Your Educational Context (2) Surveying the Larger Context (3) Addressing the Barriers to Learning
California	Seven Characteristics: (1) Relationship with the board (2) Administration of the school district (3) Community relationships		(4) Supporting Personnel(5) Resolving Conflict(6) Collaborating with Families and Community
	(4) Staff and personnel relationships(5) Educational leadership(6) Business and finance(7) Personal qualities	Oregon	Nine Performance Standards: (1) Leadership and District Culture (2) Policy and Governance (3) Communications and Community Relations (4) Organizational Management
lowa	Six Standards: (1) Shared Vision (2) Culture of Learning (3) Management (4) Family and Community (5) Ethics		 (5) Curriculum Planning (6) Instructional Leadership (7) Human Resources Management (8) Values and Ethics of Leadership (9) Labor Relations
	(6) Societal Context	Texas	Three Domains: (Evaluation Instrument)
lowa	Seven Characteristics: (Standards for School Leaders) (1) Relationship with the board (2) Administration of the school district		 (1) Educational Leadership (2) District Management (3) Board and Community Relations
	 (3) Community relationship (4) Staff and personnel relationships (5) Educational leadership (6) Business and finance (7) Personal qualities 	Virginia	Five Domains: (Includes indicators for each standards and Evaluation form) (1) Planning & Assessment (2) Instructional Leadership
Michigan	Seven Components: (Sample timeline of advised activities) (1) Relationship with the Board		(3) Safety & Organizational Management(4) Communication & Community Relations(5) Professionalism
	 (2) Community Relations (3) Superintendent/Staff Relationships (4) Business and Finance (5) Educational Leadership (6) Personal Qualities (7) Achievement of Goals Determined by Board of Ed 	Vermont	Eleven Standards: (Evaluation Instrument) (1) Student Learning (2) Instruction (3) Community Relations (4) Human Resources (5) Policy
Missouri	Nine Standards: (Includes indicators for each standards and Evaluation form) (1) Leadership and District Culture (2) Policy and Governance (3) Communication and Community Relations (4) Organizational Management (5) Curriculum Planning Development (6) Instructional Leadership (7) Human Resources and Management (8) Values and Ethics of Leadership (9) Labor Relations		(6) Finances (7) Facilities (8) Board Relations (9) Safety (10) Communication (11) Ethics

14 AASA Whitepaper: Evaluating the Superintendent

www.aasa.org

Chapter 4: A Quality Evaluation Process

A quality performance evaluation system will provide ways and means for documenting the superintendent's performance, and then offer a rubric for judging that performance fairly.

Developing a comprehensive set of performance standards, alone, isn't adequate to ensure a quality evaluation system. While the performance standards describe *what* the superintendent is expected to do, we also need to know *how* the superintendent fulfills his or her work as well as *how well* the work is done.

Data Sources

In order to develop a complete picture of a superintendent's contribution to the overall success of the school system, the board should use multiple sources of broad-based information. Systematically documenting performance in a variety of settings using a variety of means enhances the breadth and depth of both the superintendent's and the board's understanding of performance strengths and weaknesses. However, for data sources to be acceptable, they must meet the tests of logic, reliability, fairness and legality (Peterson, 1995). For example, in evaluating the performance of a superintendent a board should consider the following important questions:

- 1. Are the data the responsibility of the superintendent?
- 2. Do the data reflect the superintendent's responsibilities described in the job description?
- 3. Are the data of primary importance in judging the quality of the superintendent's performance?
- 4. Are there better data available?

In this age of "standards and accountability" there is a common belief that educational evaluations must be grounded in assessments of student achievement (Candoli, Cullen, & Stufflebeam, 1997). However, student learning alone certainly does not capture the day-to-day realities of the responsibilities of a superintendent of schools. The research is clear -- classroom teachers alone have a direct impact on student achievement. School principals also have a strong impact, albeit indirect, on student learning, as they support teachers and create school climates that nurture and stress academic performance (Hallinger & Heck, 1996). Research to-date attempts to connect non school-based administrators, like superintendents, to student achievement, even indirectly, have not been successful.

Yet, many boards attempt to use student achievement data to evaluate a superintendent's performance. To the degree that superintendents' responsibilities do include holding school personnel, principals and teachers accountable for improving students' learning, they are able to have an indirect influence on student achievement. Essentially superintendents must make personnel and curricular decisions that positively impact student achievement.

When student-learning measures are used in the evaluation of superintendents, they must conform to professional standards of practice (JCSEE, 2009). There are numerous pitfalls in the inappropriate and uninformed use of assessment data for evaluation of any sort, particularly for use in superintendent evaluation. Annual measures of student achievement should only be used to determine trends over time. Annual assessments at specific grade levels measure different students each year. That variability alone makes it impossible to use such data to fairly evaluate a superintendent. If however, trends show no progress in overall student achievement over time, data could be used to illustrate a real need to improve the quality of classroom teaching or building leadership, both responsibilities of the superintendent. However, these data are only one measure of performance in one domain. Evaluation is a summative process that must address all of the superintendent's responsibilities.

A sound evaluation system will always be based on actual performance data collected through multiple means that are representative of the superintendent's total performance during the period covered by the performance assessment. Thus, using a more comprehensive set of data is essential and can yield a far more valuable performance assessment. Multiple data sources provide for a comprehensive and authentic "performance portrait" of the superintendent's work.

Data sources might include informal observations, client surveys, artifacts of performance, achievement of professional goals and other relevant sources of information. The achievement of a specific goal can be documented using appropriate data. Many documents that are developed by the superintendent in the normal course of serving as the district's CEO can be considered as part of the evaluation data collection process. Client surveys can provide information on the staff and community's perception of the superintendent's performance.

Performance Goals - One way to measure progress in student learning is to make it a performance goal. Goals should be few in number, measurable and have specific, realistic timelines for achievement. They can be established under any performance domain or standard. Performance goals should be aimed at desirable, yet realistic, improvement targets that are congruent with the school district's needs and/or concerns. Once established, the goals can be reviewed and adjusted as necessary.

With the use of performance goals the superintendent typically reports progress on achieving the goals at regular intervals throughout the evaluation process. Indicators of goal attainment include documentation via the superintendent's oral and written reports, as well as other evidence that can indicate the level of progress. Of course, contextual issues beyond the superintendent's control can have an impact on the attainment of established goals. For example, there are circumstances when the superintendent does everything possible to enhance student learning, but conditions beyond his or her control prevent maximum benefits for students. Examples of such conditions are: limited resources, inability to terminate certain employees, contractual obstacles, student mobility, student absenteeism and other such variables.

Document Review - Another way to document a superintendent's performance is to perform an analysis of artifacts (written records and documents produced by the superintendent as a part of his or her job responsibilities). Artifacts for a superintendent, for example, might include school board meeting minutes, articles written for publication, PowerPoint notes from presentations, agendas from meetings led, a record of individuals mentored and recordings from press conferences. **Client Surveys** - School board members invariably receive feedback, often unsolicited, regarding particular programs, events and efforts of superintendents and their staffs. In the absence of a more systematic method for collecting perceptions of staff and community members, these anecdotal comments form the basis of the board's collective opinion of the superintendent's acceptance and performance as perceived by the school community. In essence, client feedback on superintendent performance -- albeit highly informal -- is common practice.

In recent years there has been a growing movement for educators to adopt 360-degree assessment principles employed in business and industry – giving all segments of the school community an opportunity to provide feedback data for the evaluation process (see, for example, Manatt, 2000). This client-centered feedback process can provide an avenue for both the superintendent and the board to receive systematic and representative feedback regarding performance. If staff or community perceptions are to be factored into the superintendent's performance evaluation – and they invariably will – then a much fairer and more productive approach is to create a formal outlet for receiving that feedback.

The real challenge is to collect survey data that meets the tests of logic, reliability and fairness. Staff and community surveys of a superintendent's various constituents have the potential to provide data that meet the tests if they are well conceived, properly administered and interpreted fairly. While surveys can provide an important perspective on the superintendent's performance, they should be used as *only one* component in the evaluation system if they are to be employed.

Making Evaluative Decisions

Rating Scales - Performance domains, job standards and performance indicators provide a welldefined description of superintendent expectations. Data gathered through goal setting, student performance measures, client surveys, document review and other appropriate sources of information need to be synthesized in order to arrive at a meaningful judgment regarding performance. The tool most often used in making evaluation decisions -- whether for formative or summative purposes -- is a rating scale (rubric) against which performance can be assessed.

Rating scales with three or four points offer opportunities to explain and justify performance

ratings. An example is the four-point performance rating scale with the categories: Exemplary Professional Performance (4), Professional Performance (3), Performance Requires Improvement (2) and Performance Is Unsatisfactory (1).

In this example of a rating scale, four distinct ratings are available for use in assessing the superintendent's performance. But before it can be effectively applied, each rating must be clearly defined so that those applying the ratings have a common understanding of what each signifies and so that the superintendent can accurately interpret the ratings. In this example the following definitions for the rubric could be:

4 - Exemplary Professional Performance:

performance by the superintendent that continually has an impact on students, staff and programs in the school district in a positive manner. For performance to be rated at this level it must consistently exceed the expectations set forth in the performance standards and the board should cite specific examples in a narrative format (i.e., the board should describe specific behaviors on the part of the superintendent that illustrate the high rating).

3 - Professional Performance: performance that consistently meets expectations resulting in quality work in the accomplishment of the job performance standards identified for the superintendent. *This is the acceptable performance level that is expected.*

2 - Performance Requires Improvement: performance that does not meet standards and requires a program of improvement and/or remediation to produce desired results (i.e., to meet criteria). The board should cite specific evidence in a narrative format (i.e., the board should describe examples of specific behaviors on the part of the superintendent that illustrate the deficiency).

1 - Performance Is Unsatisfactory:

unacceptable performance that requires significant improvement to justify continued employment. The board should cite specific evidence in a narrative format (i.e., the board should describe examples of specific behaviors on the part of the superintendent that illustrate the deficiency).

0 - Cannot Judge: the board does not have enough information to rate performance on an identified standard.

Such a four-point scale enables the board to acknowledge outstanding work quality and to provide useful feedback for work that is judged in need of improvement. Ratings typically are applied to individual performance standards, but not to performance indicators. Additionally, ratings can be applied to the overall domains to provide a more global assessment of performance. 18 AASA Whitepaper: Evaluating the Superintendent

www.aasa.org

Chapter 5 Implementing the Process

Evaluating the performance of the superintendent should be a continuous process performed with the same concern for planning and professionalism that is employed in selecting a superintendent. Formal summative evaluations may be annual events -- in most states, the frequency of the summative evaluation, if not some of the content, is governed by a state law or code. However, conversations should occur between the board and superintendent throughout the year concerning the status of attaining goals, as well as any other specific performance issues. Such feedback can be of great value to superintendents in directing their own professional growth.

Guided by policy

A board's responsibility as policymaker includes crafting a policy, regulations and procedures for a quality performance evaluation system for all employees, including the superintendent. Such policy creates consistency in the process and guidelines for board members, both veterans and novices. Both the superintendent and board members should review current policies related to the superintendent, including those that govern the evaluation of the superintendent or describe the responsibilities/duties of the superintendent, and modify them where necessary. In the absence of such policy, initiate policy development.

The district policy should reflect the *how*, *what*, *when*, *where and by whom* the process of performance evaluation of the superintendent is performed. Often, the implementation details, actual performance assessment documents and/or forms, and other details may be adopted as addenda or be incorporated into the procedures pursuant to the actual policy. The policy itself should always reflect the board's intentions and beliefs concerning the goals of the process. It should also include or be accompanied by procedures that specify the "nuts and bolts" of the process.

Time commitment - During the development of procedures, it is important to assess the resources, particularly the amount of time the implementation plan requires to be certain that it meets the *feasibility* standard – is it practical enough to put into practice? Will the board devote the time required to implement the process as it is designed? All too often sound evaluation designs are not executed because of the board's unwillingness to prioritize the evaluation of the superintendent. Another obstacle is the time to prepare and train all individuals who participate in the process.

Sequence of events - Once an evaluation process has been adopted it will generally guide the sequence of implementation. Generally, an implementation schedule is developed first. For example, ordinarily the contract year will begin on July 1 and terminate the following June 30. Training all participants is the logical initial step. The bestdesigned evaluation process will fail to achieve its goals without the adequate training of all board members and the superintendent. The absence of adequate training places board members in a frustrating, uncomfortable position; they should fully participate in the superintendent's evaluation, yet do not have a clear understanding of their individual roles or of how to implement the process. This undermines the intent and goals of the process, often resulting in judgments of performance grounded only in personal perceptions.

If goal setting is an element of the process, establishing a few goals should be the next step. Individual state law or code may require that the process be completed by a certain date. The implementation schedule creates a real on-going process in which all parties know when each meeting is scheduled during the process. Regular executive session agendas should reflect the evaluation meeting as agenda items. This is critical since experience tells us that the most common course of action is to use time for other "pressing" issues. Not adhering to the implementation schedule undermines the process and creates an evaluation "event": the summative evaluation, at the end of the year.

The superintendent's and all board members' participation in all phases of the evaluation process is essential. Sometimes an outside facilitator is used to assist with the superintendent's evaluation. If an outside facilitator is employed for this purpose, the facilitator should be trained in the process and meet with the superintendent and board jointly to clarify roles. The superintendent's participation, cooperation and support are critical.

Once the board completes the superintendent's annual performance evaluation, it should issue a statement during a public board meeting explaining the process and goals, as well as whatever action(s) the board has taken. The superintendent should be publicly commended whenever appropriate.

Chapter 6 Other Considerations

Superintendent evaluation should be a process, not an event – a process that is grounded in an accurate job description and written policies defining the division of responsibilities between board members and the superintendent. It must be governed by policy that specifies *how, what, when, where and by whom* the process of performance evaluation of the superintendent is performed. If well crafted, the process of evaluating the superintendent can be useful and flexible, providing both accountability and useful feedback for the superintendent. The process must be more concerned with quality of the superintendent's performance in meeting clear expectations than personal characteristics.

All summative evaluations involve decisions. In order to meet the standards of a quality evaluation, the decisions made in this process must be based on evidence rather than opinions. In doing so, the board removes the influence of politics and models databased decision making for members of the school district and local community.

Adopting the right process - Differences in school district size, complexity and priorities thwart attempts to standardize criteria for superintendent evaluation. Therefore, it is important for each board to adopt a process for evaluating its superintendent that considers the district's unique circumstances. Some evaluation models or templates available to assist boards in developing an evaluation instrument are based on standards. They are too often checklists of generic job responsibilities that do not serve the goals of the process well because they ask board members to assess the superintendent's performance based on whether or not -- and how effectively -- the superintendent performed a series of tasks in each standard. Absent is real evidence for knowing if the superintendent is performing these activities and little knowledge about what doing these activities well really "looks like."

More appropriate evaluation systems recommended by states and professional associations conform to the model described previously in this paper. That is, they focus on the broad general areas of responsibility of superintendents, then specify performance standards (expectations) under each general area and, finally, provide *a set of indicators of professional performance for each standard*. These indicators of performance for each standard enable board members to be more objective in assessing performance and providing more specific, useful feedback. In order to incorporate such a system into the process, boards must be careful to select those performance standards that reflect their expectations of the superintendent as well as indicators that provide evidence that each standard is being met.

But job responsibilities and performance indicators alone are not enough. A decision of "how" performance will be assessed must be made. Convincing boards to adopt a behaviorally anchored rating scale (performance rubric), which provides descriptions of acceptable/unacceptable behavior for each job responsibility, is key to collecting more reliable data. A definition of all the terms used in the scale gives clarity and helps all board members know what ratings like "competent" or "satisfactory" mean as they make performance judgments.

The sources of evidence (data) that will be used to document and assess the superintendent's performance should be clear. I have often asked board members how they know whether their superintendent is doing a good job. Where do they get their information about the superintendent's performance in standards that cover, for example, *instructional leadership* or *planning and assessment*? How much of the performance do they directly observe? Does their information come from a broad spectrum of their constituents or the vocal few?

Most board members admit that their ability to collect good, reliable data that reflects a broad base is very limited. Yet, the more data sources, the greater the chance that the complexity of the superintendent's work will be fairly assessed. Since school board members generally are not trained adequately to collect reliable, valid data, the fairness of evaluations becomes a critical issue.

Variations – Boards also differ in their governance model. Some are policy focused; some are more focused on long-term planning, while others are more traditional and focused on the immediate issues that must be addressed. Evaluation

models generally are designed to serve the needs of boards that operate in the more traditional mode. These differences in focus, however, should result in adopting a process of superintendent evaluation that reflects such differences. For example, a process linked to district goal setting requires board members to identify and prioritize the superintendent's major goals before the evaluation process begins. Both board members and the superintendent should be involved in establishing administrative goals. In this collaborative process the board guides the overall direction for the district while the superintendent's expertise in administration ensures that the goals represent a realistic idea of what can be accomplished. Goals must be specific, measurable and few enough in number to be reasonably achieved.

Another approach is to have broader participation in the process. Advocates of the 360degree process of evaluation have long advocated collecting data from all constituents. For example, parents and community leaders can provide valuable input for the board as members assess how well the superintendent communicates with the community. Other administrators and teachers can provide insights for the board on how well the superintendent communicates district goals and priorities and provides district leadership. In such a process constituents can be reliably surveyed using instruments designed to collect such data. These data would be then added to data collected from formal observations, informal observations, achievement of district goals and student assessments. Although collecting data from multiple sources is time consuming and requires other resources, such a broad array of evidence can result in a more objective assessment of superintendent performance.

Advantages and Disadvantages

Measuring the achievement of objectives (MBO) and printed rating forms are most commonly used in the evaluation of superintendents. In some districts, both are used in the process. There are strengths and weakness in all of the evaluation processes. Strengths of those using rating forms include: greater clarity of expectations, comprehensiveness, characteristics of open-endedness and structure, inclusion of multiple perspectives and ease of use. Weaknesses include factors such as little constituent involvement, inadequate job specificity, too general, mismatched to the responsibilities of the superintendency and lack of provision for professional development.

The strengths of a process based on goal achievement include forced recognition of current

priority for objectives, clear authority given to the board for evaluation, flexibility, encouraging dialogue between the board and the superintendent, and ease in implementation. Weaknesses include watering down of objectives, neglect of student learning and concerns, no provisions for stakeholders and objectives not reflecting actual job performance.

All of the models have relative strengths and weaknesses. However, those that have the greatest potential to meet the essential criteria for quality personnel evaluation include evaluation based on performance standards, document review and the use of student performance measures. Employing multiple models enables boards to enjoy the benefits of the strengths of each model while compensating for the individual models' weaknesses. In essence, there is no perfect superintendent evaluation process, but the best are those that are grounded on the actual duties performed by the superintendent and are evidence based.

Chapter 7 Superintendents' Needs

As school district leaders, superintendents model the commitment to "life-long" learning. One way they do this is making a commitment to a comprehensive process of evaluation that not only assesses the achievement of district goals, but also provides data and other feedback about their own performance. Another way is using such information in a plan for professional growth.

Articulating the merits of a comprehensive process and prioritizing its development and implementation with the board is the first step a superintendent must take. Board members may come to their role with good intentions. But the lack of a sound orientation and real training in the most important aspects of their role handicaps them and impedes their ability to be assets to the district in working with their superintendent and achieving their district's goals.

Superintendents are the only school district employees not supervised or evaluated by another licensed professional. Yet, it is imperative that superintendents be evaluated in a manner that meets all the criteria of good personnel evaluation. It is a responsibility of board members for which they have not been provided adequate preparation. All evaluators, including board members, need adequate preparation and training in order to evaluate within the spirit and intent of the process.

There are several "natural" times for the board and superintendent to examine their current practice and modify it by adopting a process of superintendent evaluation. Boards that become engaged in the process to reassess and refine their expectations and the superintendent's job description prior to searching for a new superintendent have been most "faithful" to the process through time. By adopting standards and performance indicators, the board is clearly defining its expectations for the incoming superintendent. Therefore, throughout the subsequent search process, a candidate would have an opportunity to discuss the process up front and is able to have a clear understanding of how performance will be assessed in the future -- with no surprises.

Considering the number of boards that lack the will and training to develop and implement a comprehensive evaluation process, superintendents should consider the evaluation process when negotiating initial and subsequent personal employment contracts. Absent a policy specifying all the critical elements of the evaluation process (how, what, when, where and by whom), as well as the sources of data that will be used to make judgments, etc., superintendents should have such relevant details incorporated into their contracts. Other details, such as a provision that the superintendent receives a copy of all forms used during the evaluation process by individual board members, may provide a more realistic reflection of actual performance. Since summative evaluation forms reflect a composite of individual board members' judgments, they may be more subjective, reflecting the sentiments only of the individual(s) who prepares those documents. The contract should also guarantee the right of the superintendent to respond to the evaluation in writing and make the response a permanent attachment to the summative document.

All too often superintendent evaluations are performed hurriedly in an attempt to satisfy a legal requirement or a policy mandate. If the evaluation is merely an event it has little, if any, impact on the professional growth of the superintendent or improvement of the school district. The success of the superintendent and, ultimately, the success of the school system are inextricably tied. If the superintendent of schools is to receive a fair evaluation, and if the evaluation is to contribute to her or his professional development, success and overall effectiveness of the district, then adequate time and resources must be devoted to designing, developing and implementing a comprehensive and quality performance evaluation system.

In today's political environment, the hue and cry for accountability at all levels demand the fair evaluation of all personnel. Achieving a fair evaluation of the superintendent will require greater compatibility among evaluation instruments, actual duties of the superintendent and the standards

24 AASA Whitepaper: Evaluating the Superintendent

that guide the profession. At the same time, the evaluation models and evidence of achievement must be well suited to measure the professional standards.

References & Resources

- American Association of School Administrators (1980). *Evaluating the Superintendent*. Arlington, VA: Author.
- American Association of School Administrators (1993). *Professional standards for the superintendency*. Arlington, VA: Author.
- Beckham. J. C. (1985). *Legal aspects of employee* assessment and selection in public schools. Topeka, KS: National Organization on Legal Problems of Education.
- Board of School Trustees (2005). *Superintendent Evaluation Manual, State of Nevada*. Clark County, NV: Author.
- California School Board Association. (2005). *Key Points Relating to Superintendent Evaluation*. Retrieved from http://www2.csba.org/Services/Services/ GovernanceServices/GovernanceConsulting/~/ media/Images/Services/GovernanceServices/ ExecutiveSearch/SuperintendentEvaluation.ashx.
- Candoli, I.C., Cullen, K., & Stufflebeam, D. L. (1997). Superintendent performance evaluation: Current practice and directions for improvement. Boston: Kluwer Academic Publishers.
- Department of Public Instruction. North Carolina Standards Board for Public School Administration, State of North Carolina. Retrieved January 22, 2009 from http://www. ncpublicschools.org/standards_board/future. html.
- DiPaola, M. F. (2007). Revisiting superintendent evaluation: Do you and your school board members view it as an event or a continuous process? The *School Administrator*, 64(6), 18-22.
- DiPaola, M. F. (2005). Superintendent evaluation: Why bother? *NJASA Perspective*, 13, (4) 12-17, 29-30.
- DiPaola, M.F. (2001 January). Administrator shortages: A challenging reality. VASS News, 13, (5).
- DiPaola, M.F. (2000 January). Evaluating the superintendent in the age of accountability. VASS News, 12, (5).
- DiPaola, M.F. (2000 January). Evaluating the superintendent: A board challenge. *VASS News*, 12, (5).
- DiPaola, M. F. & Stronge, J. H. (2003). *The* superintendent evaluation handbook. Lanham, MD: Scarecrow Press.

- DiPaola, M. F. & Stronge, J. H. (2001, June). Superintendent evaluation in a standards-based environment: A status report from the states. *Journal of Personnel Evaluation in Education*, 15, (2), 97 – 111.
- DiPaola. M. F. & Stronge, J. H. (2001 February). Credible evaluation: Not yet state of the art. *The School Administrator*, 58, (2).
- Frels, K., & Horton, J. L. (2003). A documentation system for teacher improvement or termination (5th ed.). Dayton, OH: Education Law Association.
- Frels, K.. Cooper, T. T, & Reagan. B. R. (1984). Practical aspects of teacher evaluation. Topeka. KS: National Organization on Legal Problems of Education.
- Gemberling, K. W., Smith, C.W, & Vallani, J. S. (2000). The key work of school boards. Alexandria, VA: National School Boards Association.
- Georgia School Boards Association. (2002). Superintendent Evaluation Instrument. Retrieved from http://www.gsba.com/services/services_ super_evaluation.htm.
- Gessford, J. B. (1997). Evaluation. In National School Board Association, Termination of school employees: Legal issues and techniques (pp. 15-30). Alexandria, VA: Association for Supervision and Curriculum Development.
- Glass, T.E., Bjork, L. & Brunner, C.C. (2000). *The 2000* study of the American school superintendency. Arlington, VA: American Association of School Administrators.
- Hallinger, P., & Heck, R. H. (1996). Reassessing the principal's role in school effectiveness. *Educational Administration Quarterly*, 32 (1), 5–44.
- Hoyle, R., J., & Skrla, L. (1999). The politics of superintendent evaluation in education. *Journal* of *Personnel Evaluation in Education*, 13(4), 405-419.
- Joint Committee on Standards for Educational Evaluation (D. L. Stufflebeam, Chair) (1988). *The personnel evaluation standards: How to assess systems for evaluating educators*. Newbury Park, CA: Corwin Press, Inc.
- Joint Committee on Standards for Educational Evaluation (Arlen R. Gullickson Chair) (2008). *The personnel evaluation standards 2nd Edition*. Thousand Oaks, CA: Corwin Press.

Illinois Association of School Boards. (2006). For School Boards and Superintendents: How to Develop a Performance Evaluation Process, State of Illinois. Springfield, IL: Author.

Illinois Association of School Boards. (1998). Performance-Based Contracts for Superintendents. Retrieved from http://www. iasb.com/law/perfcont.cfm.

lowa School Boards Associations. Iowa Standards for School Leaders. Retrieved from http://www.uni. edu/coe/elcpe/edlead/downloads/lowa%20Sta ndards%20for%20School%20Leaders%20(ISSL). doc.

Iowa School Leaders. Resource Guide for Superintendent Evaluation: A Systems Approach. Retrieved from http://www.sai-iowa.org/ supteval.

Lewis, E. (Ed.). (1977). Evaluation of a Superintendent (Guidelines to Assist School Board Members in Planning and in Evaluation), State of California. Sacramento, CA: California School Board Association.

MacPhail- Wilcox B. & Forbes, R. (1990), Administrator evaluation handbook. Bloomington, IN: Phi Delta Kappa.

McGrath, M. J. (1993). When it's time to dismiss an incompetent teacher. *The School Administrator*, 50(3), 30-33.

Michigan Association of School Boards. The Superintendent Evaluation Process, State of Michigan. Lansing, MI: Author.

Michigan Edu Source. Superintendent Evaluation: A System Approach. Retrieved from http://www.michiganedusource.org/Superintend ent%20Evaluation%20Docs/SEASA.pdf

Missouri School Board Association. (2007). The New Performance-Based Superintendent Evaluation Handbook, State of Missouri. Columbia, MO: Author.

Morton. B., J. (2003). Superintendent Evaluation Manual: Professional Education Personnel Evaluation Program of Alabama. State of Alabama. Montgomery, AL: Alabama State Department of Education.

Namit, C. (2008, November). Superintendent evaluation tool box. *District Administration: The Magazine of School District Management*.

National School Boards Association (2000). The key work of school boards. Alexandria, VA: Author.

Nemir, W. (2005). Leadership Team Services Resources Governance In Action: Evaluation As a Tool. Texas Association of School Boards.

New York State Council of School Superintendents. (2009). Model Board of Education Evaluation of the Superintendent.

Oregon School Board Association. (2009). OSBA

Superintendent Evaluation Workbook. Retrieved from http://www.osba.org/leadrshp/ supteval/index.asp

Oregon School Board Association. (2009). Superintendent Evaluation. Retrieved from http://www.osba.org/leadrshp/supteval/evaluati ng%20the%20superintendent.asp.

Peterson, D. (1989). Superintendent Evaluation. ERIC Clearinghouse on Educational Management Eugene OR (Eric Document: ED3312775).

Schaffer, F. M. (1999). The processes and practices of superintendent performance evaluation in a mid-Atlantic state. (Doctoral Dissertation, University of Maryland, 1999). UMI Dissertation Services. (UMI No. 9925831).

Stronge, J. H., & Tucker, P. D. (2003). Handbook on teacher evaluation: Assessing and improving performance. Larchmont, NY: Eye on Education.

Stronge, J. H., Tucker, P. D., & DiPaola, M. (1999). Guidelines for Uniform Performance Standards and Evaluation Criteria for Teachers, Administrators, and Superintendents, Richmond, VA: Virginia Board of Education.

Texas Association of School Boards. (2007). About the Texas Association of School Boards New Sample Superintendent Evaluation Instrument. Leadership Team Services. http://www.tasb.org/ services/lts/resources/documents/2006_supt_ eval_instrument_w-instructions_rvoct07.pdf.

Texas Education Code Subchapter BB SS 150.1021-150.1022, Chapter 150. Commissioner's Rules Concerning Educator Appraisal Subchapter BB. Administrator Appraiser, Amended to be effective March 28, 1999.

The Board of Directors Form 1630F-1. Superintendent's Evaluation Instrument for Appraising Effectiveness, State of Washington. Retrieved from http://www. boarddocs.com/wa/tahoma/Board.nsf/ cca18a640d445b5585256e7400431d4e/ 35f17fe7f5e5f443852572ca00682e4e/\$FILE/ 1630F-1%20Supt%20 Evaluation% 20Form% 208806.pdf.

Vacaville Unified School District BP2140(a). (2005). Evaluation of the Superintendent, State of California. Vacaville, CA: Author.

Vermont School Board Association. (2007). Vermont SBA Superintendent Process. Retrieved from http://www.vtvsba.org/download/2007eval.pdf.

Appendix: Sample Superintendent Domains, Standards and Performance Indicators*

Sample Domains

Domain G: Policy and Governance

Domain A: Planning and Assessment

Domain L: Instructional Leadership

Domain M: Organizational Management

Domain C: Communications and Community Relations

Domain P: Professionalism

* DiPaola, M. F. & Stronge, J. H. (2003). *The superintendent evaluation handbook*. Lanham, MD: Scarecrow Press/AASA.

Domain G: Policy and Governance

Performance Standard G-1:

The Superintendent works with the school board to develop and implement policies that define organizational expectations.

Performance Indicators:

The superintendent...

- supports and enforces all school board policies and informs all constituents of changes to the school board policies.
- recommends changes to the school board when school board policies conflict with the school board's vision for education.
- develops administrative regulations that support the applications of school board policies.
- recommends policies and procedures that protect the security and integrity of the district infrastructure and the data it contains.
- recommends policies and procedures that protect the rights and confidentiality of staff and students.
- maintains/improves relations between the superintendent and school board through periodic joint seminars, workshops and training sessions.

Performance Standard G-2:

The Superintendent functions as the primary instructional leader for the school district, relying on support from staff as necessary when advising the school board.

Performance Indicators:

The superintendent...

- involves staff as necessary when planning/ providing recommendations to the school board.
- demonstrates professional and personal skills, which facilitate staff involvement.
- responds directly and factually to the school board.
- demonstrates tact when offering recommendations.

Performance Standard G-3:

The Superintendent oversees the administration of the school district's day-to- day operations.

Performance Indicators:

The superintendent...

- explores/applies operational methods, which enable the school, district to apply resources in an efficient manner.
- keeps the school board informed on needs and issues confronting school district employees.
- informs the school board of actions, which require school board involvement.
- delegates authority and responsibility to other employees as needs/opportunities arise.

Performance Standard G-4:

The Superintendent works with all individuals, groups, agencies, committees and organizations to provide and maintain schools that are safe and productive.

Performance Indicators:

- ensures safe, secure schools for all students and employees.
- proposes improvements to school facilities, which increase public confidence and trust that schools are safe and effective learning environments.
- uses technology to enhance professional practices and increase productivity.

Domain A: Planning and Assessment

Performance Standard A-1:

The superintendent effectively employs various processes for gathering, analyzing and using data for decision making.

Performance Indicators:

The superintendent...

- applies current research related to effective techniques for gathering data from individuals, groups, programs and the community, and uses reliable data in making decisions.
- reviews analyses of student academic achievement through standardized test results and other academic sources.
- provides staff with data in a collaborative effort to determine needs for improvement.
- applies and communicates statistical findings to identify strengths and weaknesses in programs and practices in order to ensure continuous improvement.
- plans and implements changes in programs and/ or curricula based on data.
- reviews annual analyses of district's test and sub-test scores by school and discipline in order to assess school improvement and monitor improvement plans.
- develops, monitors and assesses district and school improvement plans.

Performance Standard A-2:

The superintendent organizes the collaborative development and implementation of a district strategic plan based on analysis of data from a variety of sources.

Performance Indicators:

The superintendent...

- provides leadership in the development of a shared vision for educational improvement and of a strategic plan to attain that vision.
- implements strategies for the inclusion of staff and various stakeholders in the planning process.
- supports the district's mission by identifying, articulating and planning to meet the educational needs of students, staff and other stakeholders.

- works collaboratively to develop long- and shortrange goals and objectives consistent with the strategic plan and monitors progress in achieving long- and short-range goals and objectives.
- provides feedback to principals on goal achievement and needs for improvement.
- supports staff through the stages of the change process.
- maintains stakeholders' focus on long-range mission and goals throughout the implementation process.

Performance Standard A-3:

The superintendent plans, implements, supports and assesses instructional programs that enhance teaching and student achievement of the state educational standards.

Performance Indicators:

The superintendent...

- demonstrates a working knowledge and understanding of the state educational standards and district curricular requirements.
- supports the development of a comprehensive curriculum utilizing goals and objectives in alignment with the state educational standards.
- oversees the planning, implementation, evaluation and revision of the curriculum on a systematic and ongoing basis.
- provides resources and materials to accomplish instructional goals for all students.
- facilitates programs/curricular changes to meet state or federal requirements.
- monitors and assesses the effect of the programs and/or curricula on student achievement.

Performance Standard A-4:

The superintendent develops plans for effective allocation of fiscal and other resources.

Performance Indicators:

The superintendent...

 acquires, allocates and manages district resources in compliance with all laws to ensure the effective and equitable support of all of the district's students, schools and programs.

- allocates resources consistent with the mission and strategic plan of the district.
- meets and works collaboratively with the board and appropriate staff to determine priorities for budgeting and for the effective allocation of space and human resources.
- utilizes human and material resources outside the district that may support and/or enhance the achievement of goals and objectives.
- provides adequate staffing and other resources to support technology infrastructure and integration across the school district
- monitors/assesses resource allocation and revises allocation plans based on implementation data.
- oversees budget development and prepares it for school board approval.
- implements the annual school operating budget and capital improvement plan.
- applies financial forecasting and planning procedures that support efficient use of all school district resources.
- maintains appropriate and accurate financial records.

Domain L: Instructional Leadership

Performance Standard L-1:

The superintendent communicates a clear vision of excellence and continuous improvement consistent with the goals of the school district.

Performance Indicators:

- The superintendent...
- demonstrates personal commitment to achieving the mission of the school district.
- articulates a shared vision to all constituencies and ensures that staff members are working in concert with the district's strategic plan.
- informs members of the board and community of current research related to best practices in curriculum and instruction.
- explores, disseminates and applies knowledge and information about new or improved methods of instruction or related issues.
- shares evaluation data and subsequent plans for continuous improvement with staff, students and other stakeholders.
- recognizes, encourages and celebrates excellence among staff and students.
- demonstrates strong motivation and high standards and models self-evaluation.
- fosters positive morale and team spirit.

Performance Standard L-2:

The superintendent oversees the alignment, coordination and delivery of assigned programs and/ or curricular areas.

Performance Indicators:

The superintendent...

- articulates curricular goals, objectives and frameworks to staff and other stakeholders.
- works with staff to develop a written plan for the coordination and articulation of curricular goals.
- works with the board, staff and community representatives to identify needs and determine priorities regarding program delivery.
- provides direction and support in planning and implementing activities and programs consistent with continuous improvement efforts and attainment of instructional goals.

- monitors coordination of instructional programs with state and local standards.
- facilitates the effective coordination and integration of district curricular and co-curricular programs.
- reviews an annual analysis of the school vision's test and sub-test scores by school and discipline in order to assess and monitor school improvement.
- demonstrates an understanding of occupational trends and their educational implications.

Performance Standard L-3:

The superintendent selects, inducts, supports, evaluates and retains quality instructional and support personnel.

Performance Indicators:

- maintains and disseminates a current handbook of personnel policies and procedures.
- establishes and uses selection procedures that ensure fairness and equity in selecting the best candidates.
- makes recommendations regarding personnel decisions consistent with established policies and procedures.
- oversees the recruitment, appointment, induction and assignment of the most qualified personnel available.
- establishes and implements formal and informal induction procedures to promote assistance for and acceptance of new employees.
- sets high standards for staff performance.
- evaluates performance of personnel consistent with district policies, provides formal and informal feedback and maintains accurate evaluation records.
- recommends the reappointment and/or promotion of competent, effective personnel.
- provides support and resources for staff to improve job performance, and recognizes and supports the achievements of highly effective staff members.

Performance Standard L-4:

The superintendent provides staff development programs consistent with program evaluation results and school instructional improvement plans.

Performance Indicators:

- The superintendent...
- leads the development and implementation of a systematic professional development plan for individuals, including members of the board, and for the district.
- works collaboratively with members of the staff in using student achievement data to determine relevant professional development opportunities.
- meets with principals regularly to assess ongoing school improvement efforts.
- evaluates the effectiveness of the professional development plan in relation to district goals.
- encourages participation in relevant conferences, course work and activities of professional organizations.
- shares program evaluation results and demonstrates connection of results to ongoing staff development efforts.
- supports staff participation in internal and external professional development opportunities as appropriate.

Performance Standard L-5:

The superintendent identifies, analyzes and resolves problems using effective problem-solving techniques.

Performance Indicators:

The superintendent...

- identifies and addresses problems in a timely and effective manner.
- demonstrates fairness in identifying multiple points of view around problem situations.
- involves stakeholders in analyzing problems and developing solutions.
- monitors implementation of problem resolutions.
- provides shared leadership and decision-making opportunities for staff that promotes a climate of collaboration and collegiality.
- delegates responsibility appropriately to staff members.
- maintains focus on school and district mission and goals.
- promotes an atmosphere of mutual respect and courtesy.

Performance Standard L-6:

The superintendent assesses factors affecting student achievement and serves as an agent of change for needed improvements.

Performance Indicators:

The superintendent...

- makes appropriate changes in the curriculum and scheduling.
- optimizes available physical resources.
- adjusts placement of students.
- adjusts personnel assignments.
- provides appropriate training for instructional personnel.

Performance Standard L-7:

The superintendent ensures that curricular design, instructional strategies and learning environments integrate appropriate technologies to maximize student learning.

Performance Indicators:

- provides equitable access for students and staff to technologies that facilitate productivity and enhance learning
- communicates expectations that technology .will be used to increase student achievement.
- ensures that budget priorities reflect a focus on technology as it relates to enhanced learning.
- Provides technology-rich learning experiences for all students.

Domain M: Organizational Management

Performance Standard M-1:

The superintendent actively supports a safe and positive environment for students and staff.

Performance Indicators:

The superintendent...

- facilitates the implementation of sound, researchbased theories and techniques of classroom management, student discipline and school safety to ensure a safe, orderly environment conducive to teaching and learning.
- clearly communicates expectations regarding behavior to students, staff, parents and other members of the community.
- clearly communicates procedures for handling disciplinary problems.
- implements and enforces school district code of conduct and appropriate disciplinary policies and procedures in a timely and consistent manner.
- supports effective programs through which students develop self-discipline and conflict resolution skills.
- calmly and effectively manages emergency situations as they occur.
- is proactive in addressing potential problem situations.
- consistently conveys mutual respect, concern and high expectations to students, staff, parents and community members.
- recognizes students and staff for their academic, co-curricular, personal and professional achievements.

Performance Standard M-2:

The superintendent develops procedures for working with the board of education that define mutual expectations, working relationships and strategies for formulating district policies.

Performance Indicators:

The superintendent...

- respects the policy-making authority and responsibility of the board.
- develops and uses a systematic means of keeping

members of the board informed with complete, accurate information.

- facilitates the delineation of superintendent and board roles and the articulation of mutual expectations.
- recommends policy additions and/or modifications to improve student learning and district effectiveness.
- anticipates future needs and demonstrates a bias for action.
- values group interaction and problem solving.
- expresses opinions on policy issues directly to the board.
- supports and implements policy established by the board.

Performance Standard M-3:

The superintendent effectively manages human, material and financial resources to ensure student learning and to comply with legal mandates.

Performance Indicators:

- complies with federal, state and local statutes, regulations, policies and procedures.
- collaboratively plans and prepares a fiscally responsible budget to support the organization's mission and goals.
- demonstrates effectiveness in obtaining necessary resources.
- establishes and uses accepted procedures for receiving and disbursing funds.
- ensures that expenditures are within limits approved by the board.
- implements appropriate management techniques and group processes to define roles, delegate activities and responsibilities and determine accountability for goal attainment.
- prepares and implements short- and long-range plans for facilities and sites.
- ensures proper maintenance and repair of district property and equipment.
- monitors any construction, renovation, or demolition of district buildings.
- regularly reports to the board on the financial

condition of the district.

- monitors the efficient use of resources.
- works with staff to establish an effective schedule for use of shared resources.
- ensures the maintenance of accurate personnel records.

Performance Standard M-4:

The superintendent demonstrates effective organizational skills to achieve school, community and district goals.

Performance Indicators:

The superintendent...

- demonstrates and communicates a working knowledge and understanding of school district policies and procedures.
- ensures compliance and follow-through regarding policies and procedures.
- uses personal time to the best advantage, manages scheduling effectively and follows tasks to completion.
- employs appropriate technologies to communicate, manage schedules and resources, assess performance and enhance learning.
- performs duties in an accurate and timely manner.
- maintains appropriate and accurate records.
- efficiently and appropriately prioritizes and addresses multiple issues and projects.
- systematically evaluates progress on achieving established goals.
- keeps the board, staff and community appraised of progress in achieving the district's goals.

Performance Standard M-5:

The superintendent implements sound personnel procedures in recruiting, employing and retaining the best-qualified and most competent teachers, administrators and other personnel.

Performance Indicators:

The superintendent...

- knows and follows proper procedures for staffing.
- recruits and assigns the best available personnel in terms of personal and professional competence.
- establishes and uses selection procedures that ensure fairness and equity in selecting the best candidates for employment and promotions.
- establishes and implements formal and informal induction procedures for new employees.
- assigns and transfers employees as the needs of the school district dictate and reports such information to the school board.

Performance Standard M-6:

The Superintendent provides staff development for all categories of personnel consistent with individual needs, program evaluation results and instructional improvement plans.

Performance Indicators:

The superintendent...

- oversees the planning and evaluation of the staff development program.
- works collaboratively with members of the staff in using student achievement data to identify relevant professional development needs.
- encourages and supports employee participation in appropriate internal and external development opportunities.
- maintains an emphasis on technology fluency and provides staff development opportunities to support high expectations.

Performance Standard M-7:

The Superintendent plans and implements a systematic employee performance evaluation system.

Performance Indicators:

- establishes a fair and meaningful employee evaluation system that promotes high expectations of all staff.
- establishes evaluation procedures that assess demonstrated growth in achieving technology standards.
- provides training for all administrative and supervisory personnel in the evaluation and documentation of teacher and administrative performance that includes student achievement as a criterion.
- provides for positive recognition of identified strengths and accomplishments.
- provides assistance to employees requiring remediation.
- provides oversight in the identification of strengths and weaknesses of employees, formal and informal feedback and dismissal of ineffective employees.
- provides an annual report to the school board summarizing the results of employee evaluations.

Domain C: Communication and Community Relations

Performance Standard C-1:

The superintendent promotes effective communication and interpersonal relations within the school district.

Performance Indicators:

- The superintendent...
- promotes a climate of trust and teamwork within the district.
- facilitates constructive and timely communication.
- initiates communication and facilitates cooperation among staff regarding curriculum or program initiatives.
- establishes a culture that encourages responsible risk-taking while requiring accountability for results.
- models professionally appropriate communication skills, interpersonal relations and conflict mediation.
- maintains visibility and accessibility to staff.
- solicits staff input to discuss issues and goals and to promote effective decision-making.
- establishes and maintains a collaborative relationship with staff members in promoting the district's mission and in communicating expectations.

Performance Standard C-2:

The superintendent establishes and maintains effective channels of communication with board members and between the schools and community, strengthening support of constituencies and building coalitions.

Performance Indicators:

The superintendent...

- accepts responsibility for maintaining communication between the board and district personnel.
- anticipates, analyzes and discusses emerging educational/district issues with the board on a regular basis.
- systematically provides accurate, relevant information to the board to facilitate decisionmaking.

- establishes, maintains and evaluates a planned, two-way system of communication with community constituencies.
- communicates school and district goals, objectives and expectations to stakeholders.
- is politically astute and demonstrates the skills necessary to build community support for district goals and priorities.
- works cooperatively with representatives of the news media.
- establishes partnerships with public and private agencies to enhance the district's ability to serve students and other constituents.
- uses acceptable written and oral language.

Performance Standard C-3:

The superintendent works collaboratively with staff, families and community members to secure resources and to support the success of a diverse student population.

Performance Indicators:

- is responsive to the conditions and dynamics of the diversity within the school community.
- treats people with respect.
- models and promotes multicultural awareness, gender sensitivity and the appreciation of diversity in the community.
- is knowledgeable about laws regarding individual and group rights and responsibilities and scrupulously avoids actions that might violate them.
- collaborates with staff, families and community leaders and responds to identified needs of individual students and groups of students.
- promotes the value of understanding and celebrating school/community cultures.

Performance Standard C-4:

The superintendent creates an atmosphere of trust and mutual respect with staff and community.

Performance Indicators:

- The superintendent...
- unites people towards a common goal.
- fosters an environment conducive to the teaching and learning process.
- promotes collaboration and collegiality among the staff.
- treats all personnel fairly without favoritism or discrimination while demanding high performance standards.

Domain P: Professionalism

Performance Standard P-1:

The superintendent models professional, moral and ethical standards as well as personal integrity in all interactions.

Performance Indicators:

- The superintendent...
- understands and models appropriate value systems, ethics and moral leadership.
- promotes the establishment and application of moral and ethical practices in each school and classroom.
- relates to board members, staff and others in an ethical and professional manner.
- maintains the physical and emotional wellness necessary to meet the responsibilities of the position.
- serves as an articulate spokesperson for the school district and represents the district favorably at the local, state and national levels.
- resolves concerns and problems in an appropriate manner.
- respects and maintains confidentiality and assumes responsibility for personal actions and those of subordinates.
- maintains a professional demeanor and appearance appropriate to responsibilities.
- demonstrates good character and integrity.

Performance Standard P-2:

The superintendent works in a collegial and collaborative manner with school personnel and the community to promote and support the mission and goals of the school district.

Performance Indicators:

The superintendent...

- demonstrates flexibility and a collaborative attitude in supporting professionals/other staff/ work teams.
- supports the district and advances its mission/ goals.
- establishes and supports a district culture that encourages collaboration and teamwork in achieving goals.

- maintains effective working relationships with other administrators and staff.
- shares ideas and information and considers the interests and needs of staff members and community stakeholders in promoting and supporting district goals and services.

Performance Standard P-3:

The superintendent takes responsibility for and participates in a meaningful and continuous process of professional development that results in the enhancement of student learning.

Performance Indicators:

- participates in professional growth activities, including conferences, workshops, course work and/or membership in professional organizations at the district, state and/or national level.
- evaluates and identifies areas of personal strength and weakness related to providing district leadership.
- sets goals for improvement of skills and professional performance.
- maintains a high level of personal knowledge regarding new developments and techniques, including technology, and shares the information with appropriate staff.
- comprehends and applies current research of educational issues, trends and practices.
- networks with colleagues to share knowledge about effective educational practices and to improve and enhance administrative knowledge, skills and organizational success.
- maintains proper licensure and certification.

Performance Standard P-4:

The superintendent provides service to the profession, the district and the community.

Performance Indicators:

- The superintendent...
- serves on district, state and/or national committees and maintains an active role in professional organizations.
- contributes to and supports the development of the profession by serving as an instructor, mentor, coach, presenter, researcher, or supervisor.
- organizes, facilitates and presents at local, state and/or national conferences.
- supports and participates in efforts to align district goals and activities with community endeavors.



Membership Enrollment Form

(Dues rates are valid, July 1, 2009, through June 30, 2010) Receive 12 months of membership from date received at AASA.

First Name	_ M.I Last Name
Position/Title	School District
Address	
	te ZIP
Work Phone	Work FAX
Home Address	
CityStat	
Preferred Mailing address 🗌 Work 🗌 Home	(check one)
E-mail Address	

(E-mail address is needed to receive member benefits delivered electronically.)

Category of Membership/Dues (choose one)

☐ Active \$403 – for superintendents, assistant and deputy superintendents. Members in this category receive all AASA benefits and services, including the Legal Support Program (\$1M individual professional liability coverage/up to \$10K for job protection defense claims based on continuous years of membership, \$500 deductible), a member discount when registering for AASA meetings and conferences and more. See list of member benefits on the reverse.

Small-School District Leader \$180 – for superintendents in school districts with less than 350 students. Members in this category receive all the benefits of Active membership as described above. See list of member benefits on the reverse.

College Professor \$180 – for full-time professors of educational administration and/or supervision, who are not currently employed in full-time school administration. Members in this category are eligible to vote and hold elected office but are not eligible to receive legal support from AASA. See list of member benefits on the reverse.

District/Cabinet \$180 – for persons who are NOT EMPLOYED AS A SUPERINTENDENT OR AN ASSISTANT SUPERINTENDENT. This is the membership category for central-office staff, principals and assistant principals. See list of member benefits on the reverse.

□ Aspiring School System Leader \$55 – for teachers, graduate students, counselors or others pursuing a career as a school system leader and/or those who hold administrative credentials and are EMPLOYED IN NON-ADMINISTRATIVE POSITIONS IN K-12 SCHOOLS. See list of member benefits on the reverse.

Retired \$55 – open to anyone who has retired from full-time employment as a school administrator. See list of member benefits on the reverse.

Associate \$180 – for any person who is actively interested in, engaged in, or associated with any phase of educational work and is not employed by a school system. See list of member benefits on the reverse.

Method of Payment

ke payable to AASA)	Charge \$	_ to my credit card
Express Discover	Exp. Date (mo/yr)	J
	_	
Signature	_	
	Express Discover	Express Discover Exp. Date (mo/yr)

Please return completed form and payment to:

AASA Membership, 801 N. Quincy Street, Suite 700, Arlington, VA 22203 or fax to: 703-841-1543

Review of AASA Membership Benefits

= Member Benefit for that membership category.

1191	Active \$403	Small School District \$180	Professor \$180	Aspiring School System Leader \$55	District/Cabinet \$190	Associate \$180	Retired \$55
The School Administrator magazine –11/year	1981	1351	1951	1381	1381	1991	1981
Electronic Publications *The Leaders Edge – 2/month *AASA School Business SmartBrief – 3/week *News of the Nation – 1/week *New Superintendents Journal – 4/year	1391	1391	1351	1351	1351	1351	1391
Legal Support Program *Up to \$10,000 legal assistance *1M Individual professional liability insurance	1351	1381					
\$30,000 Free Life Insurance (for new members only)	1981						
Member Discount for Conferences *National Conference on Education *Summer Leadership Institute *Women in School Leadership Forum *Legislative Advocacy Conference	1391	1391	1351	1391	1391	1351	1951
Advocacy on Capitol Hill	1381	1351	1391	1391	1351		
*Legislative Corps – weekly report & podcast Children's Programs *Ready by 21 *Healthy Schools *Asthma Education & Prevention *Childhood Obesity *Healthy Learning News	1351	1391	1351	1991	1991		
Topical Toolkits & Research Studies	1381	1351	1391	1391	1391	1391	1951
Vote and Hold an Elected Leadership Role in AASA	1381	1351	1391				
Professional Library – 4 books/year Member Discount on AASA Books	1391	1991	1391	1351	1391	1391	1351
AASA Media *AASA Online Video Library *AASA Radio *AASA Blog *AASA Podcasts	1391	1391	1351	1391	1391	1351	1351
AASA Career Center *Member discounts on Job Postings *Sample Contracts	1351	1381	1391	1391	1391		
Award & Recognition Programs	1981	1351	1381	1351	1351		1351
Optional Insurance Programs *Term Life *GEICO - Auto *Health Insurance *Short-term Medical *Student Health Plan *ID Theft *Long-Term Care Evaluation Service	1391	1351	1381	1391	1391	1381	
School Solutions Center *NJPA *Dependent Check *K12 Insight *Optimum *PMF *MedExpert *PAETEC *tutor.com *PowerIT *Federal Automated Recovery System *ChapmanKelly *Pixetell	1391	1391	1391	1391	1391		

(Detailed descriptions of all member benefit programs can be found at www.aasa.org/MemberBenefit.aspx)

American Association of School Administrators 801 N. Quincy Street, Suite 700 Arlington, VA 22203 www.aasa.org 703-875-0748 www.facebook.com/AASApage www.twitter.com/AASAHQ

AASA Whitepaper: Evaluating the Superintendent 41



SUPERINTENDENT EVALUATION HANDBOOK

MICHAEL F. DIPAOLA AND JAMES H. STRONGE **Co-published with AASA**

2003, 200 pages 0-8108-4607-1 / 978-0-8108-4607-4 paperback \$45-95 \$37.00 AASA members Superintendent Evaluation tic Hanabook oc

"...a concrete, common sense guide...concise...provide(s) excellent forms, formats, tools, and techniques for superintendents and their boards to design a meaningful process for performance review." —THE SCHOOL ADMINISTRATOR



This essential guide provides an overview of the superintendent evaluation process. It describes a model of evaluation grounded in professional standards for the superintendency developed by AASA and NSBA. Numerous sample forms are provided to assist school districts in creating a customized evaluation protocol.

To receive your 20% AASA member discount on all AASA/ Rowman & Littlefield Education co-publications, call 1-800-462-6420 Monday-Friday 8 am-5 pm (EST) or order online at <u>www.rowmaneducation.com</u> using priority code AASA20

From Save 20%! Rowman & Littlefield Education Co-published with

WHY SCHOOL COMMUNICATION MATTERS

Strategies From PR Professionals By Kitty Porterfield and Meg Carnes Co-published with AASA

July 2008, 264 pages ISBN 1-57886-833-5 \$29.95 paper ISBN 1-57886-832-7 \$85.00 cloth



"No school administrator should be without [this book]. Surviving and thriving in today's complex school environment requires the ability to communicate well with our constituents."—Dr. Daniel A. Domenech, AASA executive director and former superintendent, Fairfax County Public Schools (VA).



Need to re-energize your faculty? Looking at announcing poor test scores to the community? Facing an angry parent contingent? Why School Communication Matters offers tips and strategies for handling these and other difficult situations. This book is an easy-to-use reference for the communication dilemmas that today's superintendents and principals face by looking at real life challenges, reframing issues in ways that suggest new and effective solutions.

> To receive your 20% AASA member discount on all AASA/ Rowman & Littlefield Education co-publications, call 1-800-462-6420 Monday-Friday 8 am-5 pm (EST) or order online at <u>www.rowmaneducation.com</u> using priority code AASA20





SURVIVAL IN A DOWN ECONOMY A Budget Reduction Process for Superintendents

E. E. (GENE) DAVIS AND JACK A. COFFLAND

"This manual is an easy-to-use, practical guide, which all superintendents in any size or type of school district would find extremely helpful as they deal with complex school district revenue

shortfalls."—Thomas A. Kersten, assistant professor of school finance, Educational Leadership Department, Roosevelt University; former superintendent, Skokie Public Schools, Illinois

April 2010, 184 pages 978-1-60709-754-9 paper \$14.96 AASA member | \$19.95 nonmember 978-1-60709-753-2 cloth \$41.25 AASA member | \$55.00 nonmember

SCHOOL FINANCE ELECTIONS Compensation Lange Compens

SCHOOL FINANCE ELECTIONS A Comprehensive Planning Model for Success

Second Edition

By Don E. Lifto and J. Bradford Senden Foreword by Daniel A. Domenech Co-published with AASA

"This book will serve as our primary resource as we plan for future campaigns."—Rolf W.

Parsons, member of the White Bear Lake school board and the Minnesota School Boards Association Board of Directors 2009, 164 pages 978-1-60709-149-3 paper \$26.25 AASA member | \$34.95 nonmember 978-1-60709-148-6 cloth \$63.75 AASA member | \$85.00 nonmember

Mention promo code 6S10AASA to get 25% off now through June 30, 2010. To order, call 1-800-462-6420 or visit www.rowmaneducation.com



ANTITUS JAPATE THE LORGON MET COMMAN AND RESOLUTION LEADING SCHOOLS DURING CRISIS



LEADING SCHOOLS DURING CRISIS

What School Administrators Must Know By Matthew J. Pepper, Tim D. London, Mike L. Dishman, and Jessica L. Lewis Foreword by Andrew Porter Co-published with AASA

"As principals, our decisions are critical in determining how well our schools will come through a crisis. This book presents an array of leadership skills." —Molly Howard, principal, Jefferson County High School, Georgia, and 2008 Metlife/NASSP National High School Principal of the Year

2009, 280 pages 978-1-60709-344-2 paper \$37.45 AASA member | \$49.95 nonmember 978-1-60709-343-5 cloth \$71.25 AASA member | \$95.00 nonmember



RESILIENT LEADERSHIP FOR TURBULENT TIMES

A Guide to Thriving in the Face of Adversity By JERRY L. PATTERSON, GEORGE A. GOENS,

AND DIANE E. REED Co-published with AASA

"This essential book will help superintendents, central office personnel, aspiring education

leaders and others not only survive but thrive in the face of adversity." —Daniel A. Domenech, executive director, American Association of School Administrators

2009, 170 pages 978-1-60709-534-7 paper \$18.70 AASA member | \$24.95 nonmember 978-1-60709-533-0 cloth \$52.50 AASA member | \$70.00 nonmember



DESIGNING SCHOOL SYSTEMS FOR ALL STUDENTS

A Toolbox to Fix America's Schools By Robert J. Manley and Richard J. Hawkins Co-published with AASA

"Remarkably wise, insightful, and practical. A must-read for practicing and aspiring educators." —Kevin N. McGuire, professor, Center for

Educational Leadership and Accountability, St. John's University 2009, 164 pages 978-1-60709-374-9 paper \$24.70 AASA member | \$32.95 nonmember 978-1-60709-373-2 cloth \$56.25 AASA member | \$75.00 nonmember



801 N. Quincy St., Suite 700 Arlington, VA 22203-1730

> Phone: 703-528-0700 *www.aasa.org*